I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is the City of Tacoma ( City), Respondent Edward

O. Gorre' s ( Gorre) self - insured employer under RCW Title 51, the

Industrial Insurance Act. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The City seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division II' s, 

decision in Gorre v. City of Tacoma, Wn. App. , 324 P. 3d 716

2014), issued on April 23, 2014, reconsideration granted in part with

amendments on July 8, 2014, and again on July 15, 2014. 1

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously usurp the Board' s and trial

court' s fact - finding duty of determining whether a medical condition

qualifies as a respiratory or infectious disease, a question of medical

fact to be decided by the finder of fact based on the evidence? 

2. Did the Court of Appeals improperly consider irrelevant and

prejudicial fact evidence it gathered and investigated, ex parte? 

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in relying on statutory construction

doctrines in interpreting what it identified as an unambiguous statute? 

4. Did the Court of Appeals improperly rule on a factual dispute not

before it by impermissibly reweighing the evidence presented at trial? 

Copies of the Opinion, Order Granting Reconsideration in Part and Amending Opinion. 
and Order Amending Order are contained in Appendix A. 

1



5. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously find as a matter of law, despite

explicit limiting language in the statute, that the statutory presumption

found at RCW 51. 32.
1852

applies to all " infectious diseases." 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves applicability of the statutory evidentiary

rebuttable presumption and attorney fee - shifting provisions of RCW

51. 32. 185 to firefighter Gore' s claim. Gorre filed an application for

workers' compensation benefits in April 2007. 3 CP 701. The Department

of Labor & Industries ( Department) denied the claim. CP 290. Following

Gorre' s protest, on March 26, 2008, the Department cancelled the

rejection order and allowed the claim. Id. The City protested allowance

and submitted records concerning Gorre' s condition. CP 786. On March

24, 2009, the Department ordered Gorre' s claim rejected. CP 290. 

Gorre appealed the Department' s order to the Board of Industrial

Insurance Appeals ( Board). Id.
4

Ultimately, following hearings and

Proposed Decision, the Board granted review to make additional Findings

of Fact, including Findings of Fact that Valley Fever is an infectious

2 RCW 51. 32. 185 is attached as Appendix 13. 

3Gorre was ultimately diagnosed was coccidioidomycosis, Valley Fever. Slip Op. 5, 28. 
Gorre' s Motion for Summary Judgment, in which he argued that RCW 51. 32. 185

applied to his claim, and his condition should be allowed as an occupational disease as a
matter of law, was denied. BR 163 -176, 690 -966, 993 -1003, Tr., 1/ 12/ 10. He gathered

medical declarations and filed a second Motion for Summary Judgment, which was
denied. BR 1005 -1512, Tr., 3/ 8/ 10. The Industrial Appeals Judge ( IAJ) determined

whether Gorre' s condition was an infectious disease or respiratory disease was a question
of fact, considered the rebuttable presumption had been rebutted at the Department, and
denied Gorre' s motion (Tr. 3 /8 /10, pp. 22 -23), and the matter proceeded to hearings to

determine whether Gorre' s condition was an occupational disease regardless of the

evidentiary presumption. CP 941. The IAJ issued a Proposed Decision and Order on
October 1, 2010. BR 125 - 127, CP 284. 
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disease, and Gorre did not contract any work - related respiratory condition. 

See In re: Edward 0. Gorre, BHA Dec. 09 13340 ( 2010). Gorge appealed

the Board' s order to Pierce County Superior Court. CP 941. After a bench

trial, the Superior Court adopted the Board' s Findings and Conclusions as

its own and made one additional Finding affirming the Department' s

March 24, 2009 rejection order. CP 942. Gorge filed a Notice of Appeal to

the Court of Appeals, Division II, which reversed in part and affirmed in

part. CP 944 -50; See Gorre, 324 P. 3d 716.
5

The Court held that evidence

supported the Superior Court' s finding that Gorge suffered from a single

medical condition, id. at 731; that Gorre' s Valley Fever was, as a matter of

law, a " respiratory disease," and thus presumptively an " occupational

disease" id. at 732 -33; and that Gorre' s Valley Fever was also, as a matter

of law, an " infectious disease," and thus presumptively an " occupational

disease" id. at 733 -34. The Court parsed the medical term " respiratory

disease" with a dictionary analysis of " respiratory" and " disease" to

encompass every " discomfort or condition of an organism or part that

impairs normal physiological functioning relating, affecting, or used in the

physical act of breathing" to determine Gorge' s Valley Fever falls under

RCW 51. 32. 185. Gorre, 324 P. 3d at 733. The Court seemingly found that

all infectious diseases, whether listed in the statute or not, entitle covered

employees to the presumption.
6 ' 

The Department moved for

5 The City subsequently filed a Notice of Cross - Appeal. CP 951 -58. 
6The Court of Appeals' construction of RCW 51. 32. 185 will arguably result in each and
every communicable disease that exists anywhere, whether endemic to or existing in
Washington and the locale of employment, being treated as a condition falling under
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reconsideration, and the Court of Appeals altered one footnote and

eliminated another. See Order Granting Reconsideration in Party and

Amending Opinion and Order Amending Order at Appendix A.8 The City

petitions this Court for review. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: 

1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict

with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of

the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; 
or

4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13 .4(b). This Court should grant review because the decision of the

Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of this Court, with other

decisions of the Court of Appeals, and with the Constitution of the State of

RCW 5132. 185, an expansion contrary to the legislative intent explained by the Court in
Ratan, 171 Wn. App. 124, 153, 286 P.3d 695, 710 ( 2012) review denied, 176 Wn. 2d
1024, 301 P. 3d 1047 ( 2013). 

7 The Court remanded the case to the Board for reconsideration of Gorre' s claim " with
instructions ( 1) to accord Gorre RCW 51, 32. 185' s evidentiary presumption of
occupational disease and ( 2) to shift the burden of rebutting this presumption to the City
to disprove this presumed occupational disease by a preponderance of the evidence that
the disease did not arise naturally or proximately out of Gorre' s employment." Id. at 719. 
s Prior to the Court' s amendment on reconsideration, the Court had stated that " evidence
in the record is insufficient." Though the Court attempted to soften its language on this

issue, the change of "is" to " appears" is wholly insufficient to change the meaning of the
Court' s unlawful reweighing of the factual disputes determined by the trial court. See
infra at 14 - I6. The Court of Appeals also eliminated a footnote containing an obvious
misstatement of the law regarding purportedly relaxed standards for evidence before the
Board. Although the Court eliminated this footnote, the Court failed to reexamine the

conclusions it reached based on its failure to recognize that the Board applies the Civil

Rules of evidence and procedure, not the relaxed standards of the Administrative

Procedure Act, including, potentially, the Court' s application of the statutory evidentiary
presumption of RCW 51. 32. 185, error which requires this Court' s review. 
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Washington, and the decision of the Court of Appeals raises issues of

substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Id. 
1. THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II' S, DECISION IS IN

DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF

APPEALS, DIVISION I' S, DECISION IN RAUM V. CITY OF

BELLEVUE, 171 WN. API'. 124. 

This Court should grant the City' s petition because the decision of

the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with the decision of the Court of

Appeals, Division I in Raum v. City of Bellevue, 171 Wn. App. 124. 9 In

Raurn, the Court of Appeals held that whether a particular condition falls

under RCW 51. 32. 185 is a question of fact to be determined by the finder

of fact based on the evidence submitted at trial.
10 11. 

In addition, the Court

in Raurn held that the finder of fact' s determinations regarding the

application of the presumption are entitled to deferential " substantial

evidence" review. See Raum, 171 Wn. App. at 155. 

Division I' s holding in Raum is in direct opposition to Division II' s

holding in Gorre. As noted above, the Court in Gorre held that which

conditions fall under RCW 51. 32. 185 and are entitled to the presumption

is a question of law, to be parsed by judges, not one of fact to be decided

9
Raum v. Cite ofBellevue, 171 Wn. App. 124 is attached as Appendix C. 

10 In Raum, the finder of fact was a jury. That this case was decided by a judge after a
bench trial, instead of by a jury, does not, in any way, impact the Court' s rational or
holding. 
11Raum, 171 Wn. App. at 146 ( " The special verdict form's question I allowed the jury to
consider whether the evidentiary presumption applied." ( emphasis added)); 144 ( " The

jury instructions [] allowed Raum to argue that he was entitled to RCW 51. 32. 185' s

evidentiary presumption and that the City failed to rebut the presumption. They also
allowed Raum, if he did not qualify for the presumption, to present evidence that his
heart condition arose naturally and proximately from his employment." ( emphasis

added)). 
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by the finder of fact based on admissible evidence presented and subject to

the adversarial process. See supra at 3 -4. Division II' s determination that

which conditions fall under RCW 51. 32. 185 is a question of law subject to

judicial interpretations of " respiratory disease" and " infectious disease" 

versus Division I' s determination that which medical conditions fall under

RCW 51. 32. 185 is a question of fact is significant conflict between

divisions that will remain and will result in disparate outcomes. The

impact of this dichotomy is patent; had Division II' s analysis that the

respiratory diseases" entitled to the presumption include every

discomfort or condition of an organism or part that impairs normal

physiological functioning relating, affecting, or used in the physical act of

breathing," Got-re, 324 P. 3d at 733, been applied to Raum' s trial evidence

that " Raum reported experiencing ... shortness of breath with exertion." 

Rauna, 171 Wn. App. at 133 ( emphasis added), the Court would have

determined as a matter of law that Raum' s cardiovascular disease was also

a " respiratory disease" to which RCW 51. 32. 185 applied. Instead, the

Court in Raum properly avoided such an analysis and unequivocally found

that " as enacted and later amended, the presumption was not intended to

create a legal conclusion that firefighters have a higher incidence of

cardiovascular disease." Rau171, 171 Wn. App. at 153 { emphasis in

originaI). Absent intervention from this Court, these divergent results will

continue to occur based solely on whether Superior Court jurisdiction of a
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claim is in Division 1 or Division 1I. 12 This Court should grant the City' s

petition, resolve the conflict between Divisions I and II, and determine

applicability of RCW 51. 32. 185 is a question of fact.
13

THE COURT OF APPEALS IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED

IRRELEVANT AND PREJUDICIAL FACTUAL EVIDENCE

GATHERED AND INVESTIGATED EX PARTE BY THE COURT OF

APPEALS. 

In workers' compensation cases, the reviewing superior and

appellate courts are statutorily precluded from reaching beyond the record

created at the Board under the Rules of Civil Procedure and Rules of

Evidence and certified to the Superior Court by the Board. RCW

51. 52. 110; RCW 51. 52. 115; Sepich v. Dep' t ofLabor & Indus., 75 Wn. 2d

312, 316, 450 P. 2d 940 ( 1969) ( " The trial court is not permitted to receive

evidence or testimony other than, or in addition to, that offered before the

Board or included in the record filed by the Board. ... The only evidence

presented on appeal is that contained in the Board record. "). "[R] eviewing

court[ s] will not consider matters outside the trial record." State v. 

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P. 2d 1251 ( 1995). 

Here, the Court of Appeals failed to adhere to RCWs 51. 52. 110

and 51. 52. 115 and the decisions of this Court. Instead of considering the

12 Because Superior Court review of workers' compensation cases generally lies in the
county of a worker' s residence or county where the injury or occupational disease
occurred; employers and claimants will be able to forum shop and dictate which Division
would decide any further appeal. RCW 51. 52. 110. Gorre could have filed his appeal in
King County, resulting in Division 1 review. Gorre, Tr. 617110, p. 176. 

3 If this Court grants review and holds that whether a condition is " respiratory" or
infectious" is a factual question, there is substantial evidence in the Certified Appeal

Board Record to support the Board' s and Superior Court' s factual finding that Valley
Fever is solely an infectious disease. See CP 290, 471, 511, 659, 665. 
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the precise record -no more and no less - considered by the trial court," 

Raum, 59 Wn.2d at 816, the Court conducted its own investigation, 

perhaps while still under the erroneous understanding that the relaxed

rules of the APA applied. The Court of Appeals cites and relies upon no

less than five sources of factual information that were not submitted by the

parties or considered by the Board or the trial court on review of the

Certified Appeal Board Record. See Gorre, 324 P. 3d at 720 n. 5; 720 n. 7; 

720 n. 10; and 726 n.22.
14

The Court' s failure to consider only the

evidence in the Certified Appeal Board Record violates RCW 51. 52. 110

and 51. 52. 115and this Court' s decisions and is patently erroneous. For

example, at footnote 10 of the Court' s opinion the Court asserts that

Although the medical experts in this case explained that

Valley Fever was not endemic to Washington State as of
2010, recent Coccidioides diagnoses have been reported in
eastern Washington, and Coccidioides immitis ( the fungal
cause of Valley Fever) has been recently identified in
eastern Washington soil. See April 4, 2014, Seattle & King
County Public Health health advisory report

http:// www. kingcounty. gov /healthservices /healthlcommun
icable /providers.aspx). 

Id. (emphasis added). It is clear from this finding that the Court conducted

its own investigation into one of the central factual disputes in this case. 15

14 That the parties have no way to know what additional facts the Court may have
discovered during its independent factual investigation underscores the error, if not
impropriety, of such activity. 
15 The Court cites material outside the record for the purposes of refuting multiple expert
medical opinions in the evidentiary record. Indeed, the Court' s authority is especially
offensive to the rule that an appeals court should consider only the record considered by
the trial court given that it would have been impossible for the trial court to have

considered the Court' s citation published more than three years after the administrative

hearings in which the Certified Appeal Board Record was created and cifer both
submission ofbriefing and oral argument at the Court ofAppeals. 
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In addition, the Court' s source of authority in this case is erroneous

given the statutory prohibition on the Court' s consideration of evidence

outside the Certified Appeal Board Record. Indeed, in addition to violating

the RCWs 51. 52. 110 and 51. 52. 115 and this Court' s decisions, the

material cited by the Court should not have been considered; it is

irrelevant, unfairly prejudicial, confusing, misleading and is inadmissible

untested hearsay. ER 402, ER 403, ER 801, and ER 802. 16

The Court' s ex parte factual investigation not only offends RCWs

51. 52. 110 and 51. 52. 115and this Court' s decisions but also raises issues of

substantial public concern that require this Court' s intervention. "[. Ijudges

who access the Internet to obtain supplemental information for a case risk

overstepping their roles and skirting fairness to the parties." David H. 

Tennant & Laurie M. Seal, Judicial Ethics and the Internet: May Judges

Search the Internet in Evaluating and Deciding a Case ?, PROF. LAW., 

2005, at 9. Such ex parte fact finding erodes the confidence of the parties, 

the public, and other judges17 in the propriety and impartiality of their

This material the Court used to support its finding does not support the Court' s
conclusion that Valley Fever was endemic to Washington during the period at issue: 
2005 -2007. As the April 4, 2014 advisory states, "[ thhis is the first time that Coccidioides

has been detected in soil in Washington." Seattle & King County Public Ilealth: 
Communicable Disease Epidemiology and Immunization Section, Health Advisory: 
Valley Fever Agent identified in Washington State Soil, 4 April 2014

http:// www.kingcounty. gov /healthservi ces/ health /corntnunicable /providers /advisories. asp
x ( follow " Valley Fever Agent identified in Washington State Soil" hyperlink) (2014). 
17

See, e.g. NY.C. Med. & Neuradiagno.stic, P.C. v. Republic W. Iris. Co., 3 Misc. 3d 925, 
774 N.Y.S. 2d 916 ( 2004) ( citing Prince, Richardson on Evidence § 2 -202 ( Farrell I lth

ed)) ( " In conducting its own independent factual research, the court improperly went
outside the record in order to arrive at its conclusions, and deprived the parties an

opportunity to respond to its factual findings. In effect, it usurped the role of counsel and

went beyond its judicial mandate of impartiality. Even assuming the court was taking
judicial notice of the facts, there was no showing that the Web sites consulted were of

9



decisions and is of special concern in appellate cases where the parties

have no notice. When considering extrinsic evidence gathered by the

Court "[ t] he importance of providing a party with notice and opportunity

to be heard cannot be overstated." Coleen M. Barger, Challenging Judicial

Notice of Facts on the Internet Under Federal Rule of Evidence 201, 48

U. S. F. L. REV. 43, 68 ( 2013).
18

Indeed, " reliance on independent research

risks error while undermining the confidence of the public and parties in

the work of both the appellate and trial courts." Jeffrey C. Dobbins, New

Evidence on Appeal, 94 MINN. L. REV. 2016, 2060 ( 2012) ( footnotes

onlitted).
19

The propriety and legality of judges conducting ex parte

investigations is a hotly debated issue of substantial public concern. The

practice implicates RCWs 51. 52. 110 and 51. 52. 115, decisions of this

Court, and principles of fairness and due process. This Court is the only

forum available to the City to raise this important issue of public concern. 

undisputed reliability, and the parties had no opportunity to be heard as to the propriety of
taking judicial notice in the particular instance. "). 
18 If the Court of Appeals felt that the materials it consulted were the type that could have
been judicially noticed under ER 201, the Court should have given the City " an

opportunity to be heard as to the propriety of taking judicial notice and the tenor of the
matter noticed" and made findings regarding whether the materials are "( I) generally
known within the territorial jurisdiction of the [] court or ( 2) capable of accurate and

ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be
questioned." ER 201. The Court of Appeals failed to do so. 

This lack of notice and an opportunity to respond is especially problematic when
courts use information from the Internet to evaluate or resolve parties' substantive factual

disputes." David H. Tennant & Laurie M. Seal, Judicial Ethics and the Internet: May
Judges Search the Internet in Evaluating and Deciding a Case ?, PROF. LAW., 2005, at 7- 

s. 
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The Court of Appeals' improper ex parte investigation into disputed

factual issues in this case requires this Court' s intervention. 

3. TIE COURT OF APPEALS IMPROPERLY APPLIED STATUTORY

CONSTRUCTION TO ITS " PLAIN LANGUAGE" ANALYSIS. 

Although the Court of Appeals failed to make an explicit ruling on

whether it found RCW 51. 32. 185 ambiguous, the Court purported to

conduct a " plain language" analysis of RCW 51. 32. 185 indicating it found

the statute unambiguous. See, e. g., Gorre, 324 P. 3d at 730 ( " Under the

plain language of the RCW 51. 32. 185( 1) "); 733 ( " The plain language of

subsection ( 4) "); 734 ( "we read the plain language of RCW 51. 32. 185( 4) "; 

nothing in the plain statutory language suggests "). 

I] t is fundamental that, when the intent of the legislature is clear

from a reading of a statute, there is no room for construction." Johnson v. 

Dept ofLabor & Indus., 33 Wn.2d 399, 402, 205 P. 2d 896 ( 1949). Yet, 

when conducting its purported " plain language" analysis of RCW

51. 32. 185, the Court strayed beyond the plain language of RCW

51. 32. 185 and selected two doctrines of statutory construction that are

only to be applied to ambiguous statutes, in violation of the decisions of

this Court, the Court of Appeals, and the constitutional doctrine of

separation of powers.20

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