RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 08, 2014, 12:24 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 90620-3

F

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EDWARD O. GORRE Respondent,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA Petitioner,

THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Defendant.

RESPONDENT'S REPLY TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ron Meyers Matthew Johnson Tim Friedman Attorneys for Edward O. Gorre

> Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A Lacey, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600 WSBA No. 13169 WSBA No. 27976 WSBA No. 37983

> > ł

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Lt. Gorre is a career firefighter employed by the self insured employer, City of Tacoma. He suffers from respiratory diseases: eosinophilic lung disease and coccidioidomycosis. Coccidioidomycosis (i.e. Valley Fever) also an infectious disease.

RCW 51.32.185 presumes that <u>any</u> respiratory disease and any infectious disease is caused by employment as a firefighter. Because the presumption was not overcome by a preponderance of admissible evidence as required by RCW 51.32.185(1), Lt. Gorre is entitled to all the benefits provided by the Industrial Insurance Act (IIA). Because firefighting need only be <u>a</u> proximate cause of his respiratory and infectious disease conditions, and firefighting as a proximate cause of his diagnosed conditions was not rebutted by a preponderance of admissible evidence, Lt. Gorre is also entitled to attorney fees and costs under the IIA and RCW 51.32.185(7).

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The SIE seeks review of the decision in: Gorre v. City of Tacoma, 180 Wash.App. 729, 324 P.3d 716 (2014).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 A. The Court of Appeals, Division II's decision is not in conflict or direct conflict with the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I's decision in *Raum v. City of Bellevue*, 171 Wn.App. 124, 286 P. 3d 695 (2012).

- B. The Court of Appeals did not improperly consider irrelevant and prejudicial factual evidence gather and investigated *ex parte* by the Court of Appeals.
- C. The Court of Appeals **did not** improperly apply statutory construction what the SIE says is its "plain language" analysis.
- D. The Court of Appeals **did not** improperly rule on a factual dispute not before the Court of Appeals by impermissibly reweighing the evidence presented at trial.
- E. The Court of Appeal's decision **did not** eliminate restrictions on the infectious diseases covered by RCW 51.32.185.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lt. Gorre has been a professional firefighter with the City of Tacoma since March 17, 1997. Edward Gorre, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 28 (4) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). Prior to his employment, he undertook and passed a demanding pre-employment test of physical strength and stamina, and a physical which included blood testing and x-rays. Edward Gorre, *Transcripts: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010) 107(13-19) (certified board record on filed with Division II Court of Appeals). In February or March of 2007, Lt. Gorre began to experience symptoms including fatigue, night sweats, chills, and diffuse joint aches. He underwent a lung biopsy. Foreign material and nodules were found in his lungs. Employer's Motion to Compel and Motion to Continue Summary Judgment Proceedings, *Exhibit G: In re: Edward O.*

Gorre 09 13340 (2010)(certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals 214-218).

On April 20, 2007, Lt. Gorre reported an RCW 51.32.185 presumptive occupational disease to his Employer after his physician found evidence of respiratory/inhalation injury from the results of his lung biopsy. Self-Insurer Accident Report, *Exhibits: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010)(certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals).

In April of 2008 a biopsy of a skin nodule indicated Coccidiomycosis, a disease contracted through inhalation and which affects the respiratory system. Lt. Gorre had not been in any endemic area, in the year prior to presenting with symptoms of the Coccidiomycosis, ruling out the contraction of Coccidiomycosis anywhere except in Washington. Dr. Royce Johnson, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 22 (13-16) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals).

The most probable, and also the *presumptive*, exposure to Coccidiodomycosis was during the course of Lt. Gorre's occupation as a firefighter. *Id.* at 23(12-24).

Lt. Gorre appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. Hearings were held in June and July of 2010 and the Board ultimately affirmed the Department's March 24, 2009 order. See *In re: Edward O*. *Gorre*, BIIA Dec. 09 13340 (2010). Lt. Gorre then timely appealed to the Pierce County Superior Court (CP 941) in a much-abbreviated two hour trial which upheld the Board's Decision and Order denying Lt. Gorre's claim (CP 942). Lt. Gorre timely filed a Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division II, which reversed in part and affirmed in part the Pierce County Superior Court's order. CP 944-940; *Gorre*, 324 P.3d 716 The SIE then petitioned the Supreme Court for review on August 7, 2014.

V. ARGUMENT: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals, Division II's decision is not in direct conflict with the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I's decision in *Raum v. City of Bellevue*, 171 Wn.App. 124, 286 P. 3d 695 (2012).

There is no conflict in the decisions of the divisions of the Court of Appeals. *Raum* was a presumptive "heart problem" case, not a respiratory disease or infectious disease case. The *Raum* presumption applies only to heart problems "experienced within seventy-two hours of exposure to smoke, fumes, or toxic substances, or experienced within twenty-four hours of strenuous physical exertion due to firefighting activities." In *Raum*, the firefighter also had a family history of cardiac-related death of his father at age 37 and other genetic evidence rebutting the presumption.

The limiting restrictions in RCW 51.32.185 pertaining to "heart problems" are not at issue in Lt. Gorre's case. The SIE is incorrect in its view

on what the *Raum* Court did or did not rule. The *Raum* Court did not hold that discerning the definition of "heart problem" was a question of fact.

In *Raum*, the issue was not the statutory (RCW 51.32.185) meaning of "heart problem," but rather whether *Raum* 's heart problem occurred within 72 hours of exposure to smoke, fumes, or toxic substances or within 24 hours of strenuous physical exertion due to firefighting activities as required by RCW 51.32.185. To that end, *see Raum v. City of Bellevue*, at 153-154, acknowledging that *Raum* had heart problems but ruling against *Raum* on his heart problems' relationship to his job.

In *Gorre*, the Appellate Court did not hold that a decision as to whether or not a claimant's medical condition is a presumptive disease is a question of law. Rather, the Appellate Court interpreted the statutory meaning of "respiratory disease" and "infectious disease" and then looked *to the testimony* before the Board and Superior Court to determine if substantial evidence supported the lower court's ruling. The *testimony* before the Board and Superior Court (opposed to a legal determination by the Appellate Court) overwhelmingly established that Valley Fever was a "respiratory disease". See *Gorre opinion, p. 763.* The Appellate Court leaned on Dr. Johnson's testimony, Dr. Ayars testimony and Dr. Barana's testimony in its analysis in this regard– Dr. Ayars and Dr. Barana were the SIE's experts.

The *testimony* before the lower courts, (opposed to a legal determination by the Appellate Court), overwhelmingly established that Lt. Gorre's condition was <u>also</u> an infectious disease. The Appellate Court stated, "Given all the experts who opined that Valley Fever is an infectious disease, we hold that Valley Fever is an " infectious disease" under RCW 51.32.185(1)(d)." *Gorre v. City of Tacoma* at 766.

The SIE has distorted or misconstrued the Appellate Court's holding in *Gorre*.

In *Gorre*, the terms "respiratory" and "infectious" diseases are expressly set forth in the presumptive-disease statute. It is the judiciary's – not the trier of fact's – role to interpret the statute. The Appellate Court in Gorre, interpreted the statute to correctly determine the meaning of "respiratory" and "infectious" diseases.

In *Gorre*, it had to be determined whether Lt. Gorre had a "respiratory" disease and an "infectious" disease, or both -- as those terms are used but not defined by RCW 51.32.185. Interpretation of a statute, for example, the meanings of "respiratory disease" or "infectious disease," are always questions of law. This is different than in *Raum*, where the issue was not the statutory (RCW 51.32.185) meaning of "heart problem," but rather whether *Raum's* heart problem occurred within 72 hours of exposure to

smoke, fumes, or toxic substances or within 24 hours of strenuous physical exertion due to firefighting activities as required by RCW 51.32.185.

B. The Court of Appeals did not improperly consider irrelevant and prejudicial factual evidence gathered and investigated *ex parte* by the Court of Appeals.

The Appellate Court held that the statutory presumption of occupational-disease, set forth in RCW 51.32.185(1), was not applied in Lt. Gorre's case. The Appellate Court remanded the case, so that Lt. Gorre's claim can be afforded this statutory presumption.

The Appellate Court relied on its interpretation of the presumptivedisease statute to determine the meaning of "respiratory disease" and "infectious disease" and also to determine whether the statute limits the presumption to only certain infectious diseases. From there, the Appellate Court looked to the testimony before the Board and Superior Court (primarily the SIE's own experts' testimony) in its analysis of whether the evidence supported Lt. Gorre's Valley Fever as a respiratory disease. It was *undisputed* that Lt. Gorre's Valley Fever was an infectious disease.

Accordingly, the instances where the SIE claims that the Appellate Court went "beyond the record" have no bearing on the Appellate Court's holding that the Board and Superior Court failed to apply the presumption to Lt. Gorre's case. These claimed instances have no bearing on any of the issues on the SIE's cross-appeal.

Specifically, (a) whether or not Valley Fever is endemic to Washington State, and (b) whether or not *H1N1 (swine flu)* infects the human respiratory tract, and (c) that it was uncommon practice amongst firefighters to wear SCBA for overhaul and not required by the SIE until 2007, and (d) the definition of "pulmonary infiltrate" and (e) the definition of "granulous lesion" has no bearing in the Appellate Court's holding that Lt. Gorre was not afforded the application of statutory presumption nor on any of the issues pertaining to the SIE's cross appeal.

As stated, the Appellate Court relied on its statutory interpretation to discern the meaning of "respiratory disease" and "infectious disease." Once those meanings were determined, the Appellate Court properly deferred to the testimony before the Board and Superior Court with respect to Valley Fever fitting within the meaning of "respiratory disease." To that end, the portion of the Appellate Court's opinion that addresses the testimony with respect to Valley Fever to Valley Fever being a "respiratory disease" is found at page 763, and nowhere in that section does the Court use the terms "H1NI" "Swine Flue" "Avian Flu" "pulmonary infiltrate" or "granulous lesion".

Further, as it relates to the Appellate Court's reference to the King County government health services site (footnote 10), the SIE might argue that the facts as to whether or not Valley Fever is endemic to Washington State *may* have bearing on the issue of rebutting the presumption.

However, the Appellate Court did not decide that issue on appeal, and again, that issue has no bearing on the application of the presumption.

These allegedly "beyond-the-record facts" also have no bearing on any of the SIE's issues on cross-appeal. The SIE's "red herring" is a logical fallacy intended to mislead, or distract from the actual question.

Further, the SIE should be required to establish that the references which it deems were "beyond the record" were actually beyond the record. There was a multitude of experts that testified in this case.

C. The Court of Appeals' construction of "respiratory disease" "infectious disease" and "shall be extended to" in RCW 51.32.185 was correct.

The Appellate Court properly pointed out that the term" respiratory disease" is not defined in the statute. Accordingly, the Appellate Court looked to Webster's dictionary for the terms "respiratory" and "disease." This was proper. "When a term is not defined in a statute, the court may look to common law or a dictionary for the definition." *State v. Pacheco*, 125 Wash. 2d 150, 154, 882 P.2d 183 (1994).

Regarding the Appellate Court's analysis of RCW 51.32.185 as it pertains to the presumption for infectious disease, the Appellate Court simply addressed *the SIE*'s argument that the "shall be extended to" language in RCW 51.32.185(4) is restrictive language. The SIE's interpretation, under statutory construction rules or otherwise, is absurd.

The SIE's strained interpretation of "shall be extended to" necessarily advances an argument that the term is ambiguous – yet the SIE impugns the Appellate Court for doing its job to determine the meaning of this statutory term.

At best, or worst, the SIE's argument instigated the Appellate Court's inquiry into the meaning of the statute. Since the terms at issue are not defined in the statute, and the SIE argued for a strained interpretation, the use of canons of statutory construction or reference to legislative history was appropriate.

A court discerns a statute's plain meaning from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context in which that statutory provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. *State v. Engel*, 166 Wn.2d 572, 578, 2010 P.3d 1007 (2009). If a term is susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations, it is ambiguous and the Court may look to other sources of legislative intent. *State v. Garrison*, 46 Wn.App 52, 54-55, 728 P.2d 1102 (1986).

In the case of infectious disease in firefighters, the intent of the

Legislature was to expand, not restrict, the application of the presumption to additional infectious diseases.

The SIE attacks the plain meaning of the "shall be extended to" language of RCW 51.32.185 in a way that favors the SIE, while at the same time attempting to:

(a) prevent the Court from engaging in well-settled and accepted principals of construction and

(b) prevent the Court from recognizing the overriding policy of the Act that mandates a liberal construction with all doubts in favor of the worker.

The SIE also impugns the Appellate Court for employing the doctrine of liberal construction in its application of the Industrial Insurance Act. However, in applying the Industrial Insurance Act it is the overriding *directive* from this Supreme Court to do exactly what the Appellate Court did. This directive, specific to the application of the Industrial Insurance Act, is different than the typical "statutory construction" analysis put forth by case law for interpreting ambiguous statutes.

The legislature mandated that the Industrial Insurance Act, that is, Title 51,

"shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising

from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51.12.010.

The Washington Supreme Court in Dennis v. Dept. of Labor

and Industries, 109 Wn.2d 467, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987) weighed in on

the genesis of the Industrial Insurance Act, including the surrendering

of civil remedies in exchange for more certainty and less struggle for

the injured worker.

"In Stertz v. Industrial Ins. Comm'n, 91 Wash. 588, 590–91, 158 P. 256 (1916), this court explained the genesis of this state's workers' compensation scheme: The Industrial Insurance Act (Act), RCW Title 51, was the result of a compromise between employers and workers. In exchange for limited liability the employer would pay on some claims for which there had been no common law liability. The worker gave up common law remedies and would receive less, in most cases, than he would have received had he won in court in a civil action, and <u>in exchange would be sure of receiving</u> that lesser amount without having to fight for it. Industrial injuries were viewed as a cost of production.

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